IN THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
In the Supreme Court

RECEIVED

Oct 09 2025

S.C. SUPREME COURT

APPEAL FROM CHESTER COUNTY
Court of Common Pleas

Brian M. Gibbons, Circuit Court Judge

Appellate Case No. 2025-000943

Alexis Jones Respondent,

v.

Progressive Northern Insurance Company Petitioner.

BRIEF OF PETITIONER

J.R. Murphy, Esquire
S.C. Bar # 7941
Megan Walker, Esquire
S.C. Bar # 103069
Murphy & Grantland, P.A.
P.O. Box 6648
Columbia, SC 29260
(803) 782-4100
jrmurphy@murphygrantland.com
mwalker@murphygrantland.com
Attorneys for Petitioner
Progressive Northern Insurance Company

Other Counsels of Record:

John S. Nichols, Esquire
Bluestein Thompson Sullivan, LLC
PO Box 7965

STATEMENT OF ISSUE ON APPEAL

- I. **With respect to Medical Payments coverage, whether an insured only incurs medical expenses in the amount that her medical providers have agreed to accept as payment in full for the treatment she received?**

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

This action arises out of Petitioner Progressive Northern Insurance Company's ("Progressive Northern") payment of Alexis Jones' Medical Payments claim stemming from an October 8, 2019, auto accident. Jones submitted her Medical Payments claim under a personal auto policy issued to Willie Brown under which Jones is listed as a driver and resident relative. The policy includes a \$10,000 Medical Payments coverage limit. The policy provides Medical Payments coverage for certain medical "expenses incurred" by an insured as a result of an accident. Respondent alleges that Progressive Northern breached the insurance contract by paying the amount for medical expenses that the providers accepted as payment in full for the treatment rendered rather than paying the full amount of expenses itemized on the providers' invoices. Respondent's novel theory would provide a windfall recovery that is not required under South Carolina law or Progressive Northern's policy.

The Respondent is a Medicaid recipient. Before rendering treatment, her healthcare providers entered into provider contracts with the South Carolina Department of Health and Human Services. Under these provider contracts, the healthcare provider agreed to accept set rates as payment in full for services rendered to Medicaid patients. Thus, a Medicaid patient does not incur costs beyond the Medicaid rates. His or her providers have already agreed before treatment to accept those rates as "payment in full." Consequently, Progressive Northern paid Medical Payments coverage to Respondent in the amount of \$1,323.60 – the same amount her medical providers accepted as payment in full for the treatment rendered. Respondent "has not paid any additional sums to any of the medical providers, nor is she legally obligated to pay any additional sums to the medical providers." (Stipulation of Fact, App. p. 141 ¶ 17). The Court of Appeals' April

16, 2025 Opinion held that Ms. Jones incurred \$27,786.17, not the amount actually owed, in medical expenses even though she readily admits that she never became obligated to pay this amount. (App. p. 330).

In *Gordon v. Fid. & Cas. Co. of N. Y.*, 238 S.C. 438, 120 S.E.2d 509 (1961), this Court defined what “expenses incurred” means in the context of Medical Payments coverage. As this Court explained, “a thing for which there exists no obligation to pay, either express or implied, cannot in law be claimed to constitute an ‘expense incurred’.” *Gordon*, 238 S.C. at 444, 120 S.E.2d at 512. The Respondent stipulated that she was not obligated to pay more than \$1,323.60. (App. pp. 138-140).

In the more than sixty (60) years since this decision, no court in South Carolina and no federal court applying South Carolina law has found that an insured can incur an expense for which there is no obligation to pay. In its February 26, 2025 and April 16, 2025 decisions, the Court of Appeals failed to accurately apply *Gordon*, binding Supreme Court precedent. Moreover, the Court of Appeals’ decision is at odds with decisions of the United States District Court for the District of South Carolina and numerous jurisdictions around the country. See *Barker v. Washington Nat. Ins. Co.*, No. 9:12-CV-1901-PMD, 2013 WL 1767620, at *6 (D.S.C. Apr. 24, 2013) (“[T]his Court concludes that under South Carolina law, Barker was never obligated to pay more than the amount that the hospital had agreed to accept as full payment under Medicare.”). As this Court held in *Gordon*, a thing for which there exists no obligation to pay cannot be an “expense incurred.” 238 S.C. at 444, 120 S.E.2d at 512. Consequently, an insured can never incur a medical expense beyond what his or her providers agree to accept as payment in full for the treatment rendered.

FACTUAL AND PROCEDURAL BACKGROUND

I. Factual Background

A. The Progressive Northern Policy

Progressive Northern issued a personal auto policy, Policy No. 930693102, to Willie Brown with effective dates of June 21, 2019 to December 21, 2019 (the “Policy”). (App. p. 54). The Policy includes a Medical Payments coverage limit of \$10,000 each person. (App. p. 55). The Policy provides in pertinent part:

PART II – MEDICAL PAYMENTS COVERAGE

INSURING AGREEMENT

If **you** pay the premium for this coverage, **we** will pay the reasonable expenses incurred for necessary **medical services** received within three years from the date of a **motor vehicle** accident because of **bodily injury**:

1. Sustained by an **insured person**; and
2. Caused by that **motor vehicle** accident.

(App. p. 67). Thus, the Policy only provides Medical Payments coverage for certain “expenses incurred for necessary medical services.”

B. The October 8, 2019 Accident and Resulting Medical Payments Claim

On October 8, 2019, Respondent was involved in an auto accident. (App. p. 23 ¶ 11). Respondent made a Medical Payments coverage claim under the Progressive Northern Policy. (App. p. 24 ¶ 13). With her claim, Respondent submitted medical provider billing statements in excess of \$10,000. (App. pp. 23-24 ¶¶ 12-13). However, Respondent is a Medicaid recipient. (App. pp. 6, 139 ¶ 4). Medicaid had agreements in place with her medical service providers wherein the providers agreed to accept set rates as payment in full when treating Medicaid recipients. (Stipulation of Fact, App. pp. 139-141); (February 10, 2021 Circuit Court Order, App. p. 6). Medicaid paid \$1,323.60 total for the medical treatment Respondent received, and the medical providers accepted this amount as payment in full for the treatment rendered. *See* (April 6, 2023 Circuit Court Order, App. p. 15).

Progressive Northern paid Medical Payments coverage to Respondent in the amount of \$1,323.60 – the same amount her medical providers accepted as payment in full for the treatment rendered. (*Id.*) Respondent stipulated that she “has not paid any additional sums to any of the medical providers, nor is she legally obligated to pay any additional sums to the medical providers. All of the charges for the treatment rendered to her has been paid in full based upon the providers receipt of the Medicaid payments....” (Stipulation of Fact, App. p. 141 ¶ 17). At the bench trial, Respondent testified as follows:

Q. Ms. Jones, as I understand it, Medicaid paid the hospital bill at MUSC and all the other doctors you went to from the accident on your behalf?

A. Yes.

Q. You’ve paid no money yourself?

A. No.

Q. Is that correct?

A. Correct.

Q. And you’re not legally obligated to pay any money to any of those by virtue of you being a Medicaid beneficiary. The hospital and doctors that you saw have agreed to accept what Medicaid paid them for a payment in full?

A. Yes.

Q. And you had no deductibles, out-of-pockets, nothing. Everything that you owed the doctors have been paid for by Medicaid?

A. Yes.

(App. p. 124, lines 4-24).

Despite the foregoing, Respondent alleged that she is owed the full \$10,000 Medical Payments coverage limit and that Progressive Northern therefore owes her “\$8,676.40 in outstanding Medpay coverage.” (Compl., App. pp. 24, 30-31 ¶¶ 14, 16, 25, Wherefore B.). Her Complaint asserted a breach of contract cause of action related to her Medical Payments coverage claim. (Compl., App. pp. 22-25).¹

¹ Respondent’s Complaint also asserted the following causes of action related to her Medical Payments coverage claim: (1) bad faith; (2) breach of fiduciary duty; (3) breach of the covenant of good faith and fair dealing; (4) breach of contract accompanied by a fraudulent act; (5) violation

II. Procedural History

On May 11, 2020, Progressive Northern filed a Motion to Dismiss the Complaint and a Memorandum of Law in support. (App. pp. 39-53). On August 10, 2020, the Circuit Court entered an Order granting the Motion in part and dismissing Jones' South Carolina Unfair Trade Practices Act claim. (App. pp. 3-5). On August 20, 2020, Progressive Northern filed a Motion to Reconsider the August 10, 2020 Order. (App. pp. 108-09). On February 10, 2021, the Circuit Court entered an Order granting the Motion to Reconsider in part and denying it in part. (App. pp. 6-10). In this Order, the Circuit Court dismissed all the causes of action except for the breach of contract cause of action. (App. p. 8).

The Circuit Court then held a bench trial on the only remaining cause of action for breach of contract. By Orders filed March 29, 2023 and April 6, 2023, the Circuit Court found for Jones on her breach of contract cause of action, awarding her \$8,676.40. (App. pp. 11-20). The Circuit Court found the term "incurred" to be ambiguous. (App. p. 17). Progressive Northern and Respondent filed cross appeals.

On February 26, 2025, the Court of Appeals filed an unpublished decision affirming the Circuit Court as to all causes of action. (App. pp. 295-299). The Court of Appeals held that Respondent incurred medical expenses totaling \$27,768.17, even though her providers agreed before treating her to accept \$1,323.60 as payment in full for the treatment rendered. (April 16, 2025 Opinion, App. pp. 329-330). The Court of Appeals decision purports to distinguish *Gordon* on the ground that in *Gordon* "the plaintiff received *free* medical care from a military hospital"

of the South Carolina Unfair Trade Practice Act; and (6) violation of South Carolina Code § 38-77-144. (Compl., App. pp. 22-32). The Circuit Court dismissed these causes of action for various reasons, the Court of Appeals affirmed, and this Court denied certiorari as to those causes of action. (App. pp. 2-19, 328-332); (September 9, 2025 Order). Therefore, these causes of action are not addressed in this Brief.

and never received a bill. (*Id.* at p. 331). The Court of Appeals stated: “[W]hile we acknowledge that her costs were eventually adjusted and paid by Medicaid, Jones still incurred the full amount charged....” (*Id.*).

On March 11, 2025, Progressive Northern filed a Petition for Rehearing, pointing out that the Court of Appeals’ Opinion was inconsistent with this Court’s decision in *Gordon*, including its definition of “expenses incurred” and its holding. (App. pp. 300-307). By Order filed April 16, 2025, the Court of Appeals denied Progressive Northern’s Petition for Rehearing. (App. pp. 326-27). On April 16, 2025, the Court of Appeals withdrew, substituted and refiled its Opinion, which is the same in all substantive regards as its prior Opinion. (App. pp. 328-332).² Neither the Circuit Court’s nor the Court of Appeals’ Opinion cited any case law to support the holding that an “expense incurred” in the context of Medical Payments coverage can be a thing for which there is no obligation to pay. *See* (App. pp. 17-18, 330).

STANDARD OF REVIEW

“This Court reviews questions of law de novo.” *Lightner v. Hampton Hall Club, Inc.*, 419 S.C. 357, 363, 798 S.E.2d 555, 558 (2017) (citation omitted). “The construction of a clear and unambiguous contract is a question of law for the court to determine.” *Williams v. Gov’t Emps. Ins. Co. (GEICO)*, 409 S.C. 586, 594, 762 S.E.2d 705, 710 (2014). “When an appeal involves stipulated or undisputed facts, an appellate court is free to review whether the trial court properly applied the law to those facts. In such cases, the appellate court owes no particular deference to the trial court’s legal conclusions.” *J.K. Const., Inc. v. W. Carolina Reg’l Sewer Auth.*, 336 S.C.

² The Court of Appeals’ original Opinion purported to contain a quotation from the *Gordon* case defining “expenses incurred.” However, no such quotation existed in *Gordon*. The Court of Appeals’ substituted Opinion takes its definition of “expenses incurred” from a district court case that the Court of Appeals also purports to distinguish. *Compare* (App. p. 296) *with* (App. p. 329).

162, 166, 519 S.E.2d 561, 563 (1999) (citations omitted). “[I]n order for this Court to affirm the circuit court's judgment, there must be evidence which reasonably supports the judge's findings.” *Steeger v. Otto Zollinger, Inc.*, 287 S.C. 207, 208, 336 S.E.2d 870, 871 (1985).

ARGUMENT

An insurer's obligation under an insurance policy is defined by the terms of the policy and cannot be enlarged by judicial construction. *South Carolina Ins. Co. v. White*, 301 S.C. 133, 137, 390 S.E.2d 471, 474 (Ct. App. 1990). “[I]f the intention of the parties is clear, courts have no authority to torture the meaning of policy language to extend or defeat coverage that was never intended by the parties.” *Diamond State Ins. Co. v. Homestead Indus., Inc.*, 318 S.C. 231, 236, 456 S.E.2d 912, 915 (1995).³ The Policy provides Medical Payments coverage for certain “reasonable expenses **incurred** for necessary medical services....” (Policy, App. p. 67) (emphasis added). Under this Court’s prior precedent, Respondent did not incur expenses beyond the amount her medical providers agreed to accept and in fact accepted as payment in full for the treatment rendered. Progressive Northern previously paid this amount. Therefore, as to the breach of contract claim, the Court of Appeals’ Opinion should be reversed.

I. The amount the medical provider agrees to accept as payment in full for the treatment rendered is the “expense incurred” – not any other, greater amount.

Respondent is a Medicaid recipient. (App. pp. 6, 139 ¶ 4). Like many other health insurers, Medicaid has agreements in place with medical service providers wherein the providers agree to accept set rates as payment in full for treatment rendered to beneficiaries. (Stipulation of Fact, App. pp. 139-141); (February 10, 2021 Circuit Court Order, App. p. 6). The same would be true for “in-

³ Under South Carolina law, there is no statutorily mandated medical payments/personal injury protection coverage. S.C. Code § 38-77-144; *State Farm Mut. Auto. Ins. Co. v. Richardson*, 313 S.C. 58, 60, 437 S.E.2d 43, 45 (1993).

network” providers for private health insurance. The amounts medical providers agree to accept as payment in full are the “expenses incurred.”

Specifically with Medicaid, the federal government establishes certain parameters for all states to follow.⁴ One such parameter is that “[a] State plan must provide that the Medicaid agency must limit participation in the Medicaid program to providers who accept, as payment in full, the amounts paid by the agency....” 42 C.F.R. § 447.15.⁵ Before rendering treatment to Medicaid recipients, “healthcare providers must first enter into a contract with the South Carolina Department of Health and Human Services (“SCDHHS”), the state agency responsible for the administration of the Medicaid program in South Carolina.” *Pee Dee Health Care, P.A. v. Sanford*, 509 F.3d 204, 206 (4th Cir. 2007). “Healthcare providers in South Carolina are not required to accept Medicaid patients. However, if a healthcare provider elects to treat Medicaid patients..., it does so by entering into a contract (“provider contract” or “contract”) with SCDHHS.” *Id.* at 207. “The contract provides for the method and amounts of payment.” *Id.*; see also *Anco, Inc. v. State Health & Hum. Servs. Fin. Comm’n*, 300 S.C. 432, 436, 388 S.E.2d 780, 783 (1989) (“The Finance Commission implements the Medicaid program by contracting with qualified providers.”).

Pursuant to the South Carolina Medicaid provider contract, the provider agrees before rendering treatment “that ***Medicaid reimbursement is payment in full***...for care or services to a recipient/patient” and “***that the provider shall not bill, request, demand, solicit, or in any manner receive or accept payment from the recipient....***” Medicaid Participation and Payment Agreement,

⁴ MEDICAID.GOV PROGRAM HISTORY AND PRIOR INITIATIVES, <https://www.medicaid.gov/about-us/program-history> (last visited May 6, 2025).

⁵ In this case, it is undisputed that Ms. Jones was not responsible for “any deductible, coinsurance, or copayment” under Medicaid. See 42 C.F.R. § 447.15. Thus, the amount paid by the Medicaid agency was the amount the Medicaid providers had agreed to accept “as payment in full.” *Id.*

Form (07/17), available at

<https://www.scdhhs.gov/sites/default/files/Participation%20%26%20Payment%20Agreement%20July%202017.pdf>. (emphasis added). Thus, a Medicaid patient never incurs costs beyond the Medicaid rates. His or her providers have agreed before treatment to accept those rates as “payment in full.” *See id.*⁶

As Justice Burnett succinctly explained:

The Medicaid program provides individuals with medical treatment by doctors who agree to accept such patients in exchange for payment at a predetermined rate schedule. The patient not only receives medical care, but also incurs no liability for the cost of the care once the doctor accepts payment. ***The difference between the amount billed and the amount paid, the amount in issue in this case, is “phantom” money in that no one has paid the amount and no one will incur a debt for the amount.***

Haselden v. Davis, 353 S.C. 481, 487, 579 S.E.2d 293, 296 (2003) (J. Burnett dissenting and J. Pleicones concurring in dissent) (emphasis added).⁷ “[T]he plaintiff has never paid nor will ever be liable for the written-off difference between the billed and paid amount...” *Id.* Consequently, there is no “expense incurred” beyond the amount the medical provider agreed to accept as payment in full. The result would be the same if Respondent was a beneficiary of a private health

⁶ Medicare works the same way. *See Barker*, 2013 WL 1767620 at *5-6.

⁷ *See also McAmis v. Wallace*, 980 F. Supp. 181, 184 (W.D. Va. 1997) (recognizing that in a Medicaid situation no one pays the written-off amount and the patient “has not incurred this fee”); *Sheeks v. Farmers Ins. Exch.*, 146 Mich. App. 361, 365, 379 N.W.2d 493, 495 (Mich. Ct. App. 1985) (“[I]n the instant case, plaintiff’s health care providers must accept as payment in full the Medicaid payments from the state. M.C.L. § 400.111b(11); M.S.A. § 16.490(21b)(11). Accordingly, the amount charged to and reimbursed by Medicaid is the reasonable charge incurred by plaintiff...”); *Grimes v. Gov’t Employees Ins. Co.*, No. 1:18-CV-798, 2019 WL 3425227, at *9 (M.D.N.C. July 30, 2019); *Metz v. U.S. Life Ins. Co. in City of New York*, 662 F.3d 600, 602 (2d Cir. 2011); *State Farm Mut. Auto. Ins. Co. v. Bowers*, 500 S.E.2d 212, 214 (Va. 1998); *Evans v. Liberty Nat. Life Ins. Co.*, No. 13-CV-0390-CVE-PJC, 2015 WL 1650192, at *5 (N.D. Okla. Apr. 14, 2015).

insurance plan that likewise had established rates with network providers for certain procedures and treatment.

II. The Circuit Court’s Order and Court of Appeals’ decision directly conflict with this Court’s precedent in *Gordon* and, instead, rely upon no authority whatsoever.

The phrase “expenses incurred” is not ambiguous, and this Court has already defined it in the context of Medical Payments coverage. In *Gordon*, the insurer “agreed ‘to pay all reasonable expense incurred’ for necessary medical and surgical service.” 238 S.C. at 444, 120 S.E.2d at 512. This Court stated: “There is no uncertainty or ambiguity in the language of the policy. It is too plain to call for judicial construction.” *Id.*

As this Court explained:

“Incur emphasizes the idea of liability * * *’. Webster’s New International Dictionary. 1. Bouv. Law Dict., Rawle’s Third Revision, p. 1531 similarly points to this inherency in its definition of the term incur: ‘To have liabilities thrust upon one by act or operation of law * * *’. Also, there are examples in specific legal situations, where it has been held that ***a thing for which there exists no obligation to pay, either express or implied, cannot in law be claimed to constitute an ‘expense incurred’***. See e. g. *Stern-Slegman-Prins Co. v. Commissioner*, 8 Cir., 79 F.(2d) 289; *Bauer Bros. Co. v. Commissioner*, 6 Cir., 46 F.(2d) 874.’

[T]he respondent incurred no expense and made no cash outlay for the treatment he received at the Fort Jackson hospital, the appellant was not liable to the respondent for the reasonable cost of his hospitalization, because the appellant had limited its liability to pay only ‘all reasonable expenses incurred’ by the respondent. There being no obligation on the part of the respondent to pay for the hospitalization he received at Fort Jackson hospital, he ‘incurred’ no expense within the meaning of the provision of the policy of insurance issued by the appellant.

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