RECEIVED

Oct 27 2025

S.C. SUPREME COURT

IN THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
In the Supreme Court

APPEAL FROM CHESTER COUNTY
Court of Common Pleas

Brian M. Gibbons, Circuit Court Judge

2025-UP-074 (S.C. Ct. App. filed Feb. 24, 2025)

Appellate Case No. 2025-000943
Trial Court Case No. 2020-CP-12-00207

Alexis Jones, Respondent,

v.

Progressive Northern Insurance Company Petitioner.

RESPONDENT'S BRIEF

John S. Nichols, Esquire
SC Bar # 4210
Bluestein Thompson Sullivan, LLC
P.O. Box 7965
Columbia, SC 29202
(803) 779-7599
John@bluesteinattorneys.com

J. Logan Cannon, Esquire
SC Bar # 101688
Shaw and Cannon, LLC
P.O. Box 2993
Rock Hill, SC 29732
(803) 329-4200
cannon@shawcannon.com

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

First, as noted, Progressive relies heavily upon a discussion in Justice Burnett's *dissent* in *Haselden* in which Justice Pleicones concurred. A dissent, however, is not binding authority. As this Court stated over a century ago:

* * * Even if a dissenting opinion sustains the appellants, it is not binding authority. A dissenting opinion is useful and throws light on the case, but is not controlling. The majority opinion is what is the law, and the dissenting opinion shows what is not the law. A justice dissents only when, in his judgment, the prevailing opinion is contrary to what the law has been.

State v. Batson, 107 S.C. 460, 93 S.E. 135 (1917). *See, also*, Christina M. Frohock, *Schrödinger's Dissent: The Hybrid Authority of a Dissenting Opinion*, 107 Marquette Law

Review 963, 985 (Summer 2024) (noting “many courts resist following dissents even from a splintered bench” since “the dissent lost the vote”); *Id.* at 990 (“A dissent is the one judicial opinion that, *by definition*, is inconsistent with the law.”) (emphasis in original).

A dissenting opinion may one day win adherents in a later majority. *Id.* at 990. However, both of the dissenters in *Haselden* joined the majority the very next year in *Covington v. George* to answer a question left open in *Haselden*. Justice Pleicones, one of the *Haselden* dissenters, actually authored the opinion in *Covington*. The Court in *Covington* described *Haselden* as follows:

Whether the actual payment amount may be utilized to establish the reasonableness of medical expenses was ancillary to the main issue in *Haselden* because both the billed amount and the actual payment amount were admitted into evidence. In *Haselden*, the Plaintiff submitted evidence that she *incurred* medical expenses in the amount of \$77,905.21. [*Haselden v. Davis*,] 341 S.C. 486, 501, 534 S.E.2d 295, 303 (Ct. App. 2000)[, *affirmed* 353 S.C. 481, 579 S.E.2d 293 (2003)]. Medicaid paid \$24,109.04 to cover the services. 534 S.E.2d at 303. The difference between the amounts billed and the amounts actually paid by Medicaid was \$51,620.59. *Id.* Defendants entered a letter as a court exhibit, which showed the gross amount of the bills for Plaintiff’s services and the corresponding Medicaid payments. The admissibility of the actual payment amount was not an appellate issue in *Haselden*, but rather the issue was Plaintiff’s entitlement to recover the difference between the billed amount and the actual payment amount.

Covington v. George, at 100, 597 S.E.2d at 143-144 (emphasis added). Not only did the *Haselden* dissenters abandon their prior position, they agreed in *Covington* that the plaintiff in *Haselden* “*incurred*” the gross expense, not the lower amount the providers accepted from the collateral source, Medicaid. *See, also, Gipson v. Coffee & McKenzie, P.A.*, 445 S.C. 395, 400, 914 S.E.2d 842, 844-845 (2025) (“Although it may appear in many contexts, the collateral source rule most often arises when the injured party has received money for the injury from one of the following sources of benefits: ... (4) social legislation benefits, *Haselden v. Davis*, 353 S.C. 481,

485, 579 S.E.2d 293, 295 (2003) (Medicaid payments).”).

Progressive’s contentions about Medicaid payments to providers rely on this Court viewing those payments as *not* from a “collateral source,” nor as representing an offset. That is, the Court must accept that when a provider agrees to accept Medicaid in lieu of other forms of payment, “expenses incurred” equates to “amount actually paid.” Progressive supports its argument only with the dissenting opinion in *Haselden* and authorities from other jurisdictions that are contrary to *Haselden* and *Covington*. (Petitioner’s Brief, p. 9, n. 7). Progressive’s position is entirely inconsistent with the majority decision in *Haselden*, the unanimous decision in *Covington* (including both *Haselden* dissenters), and the very recent decision in *Gipson*.

The Court should not find Progressive’s argument persuasive and should affirm the Court of Appeals’ decision, or dismiss this writ as improvidently granted.

II. THE COURT OF APPEALS’ DECISION IS CONSISTENT WITH THIS COURT’S PRECEDENT

Progressive contends the Court of Appeals’ decision is not consistent with *Gordon v. Fidelity & Cas. Co. of N.Y.*, 238 S.C. 438, 120 S.E.2d 509 (1961) or the unpublished United States District Court case of *Barker v. Washington Nat. Ins. Co.*, 2013 WL 1767620 (D.S.C. Apr. 24, 2013). (Brief of Petitioner, pp. 10-16). Both *Gordon* and *Barker*, however, are distinct from this case in very meaningful ways. Furthermore, the Court of Appeals’ decision is consistent with this Court’s more recent precedent in *Haselden v. Davis*, 353 S.C. 481, 579 S.E.2d 293 (2003), *Covington v. George*, 359 S.C. 100, 597 S.E.2d 142 (2004), and *Gipson v. Coffey & McKenzie, PA*, 445 S.C. 395, 914 S.E.2d 842 (2025). The Court should reject Progressive’s arguments.

A. *Gordon v. Fidelity & Cas. Co. of N.Y.*

Progressive rests the majority of its position on *Gordon*. However, *Gordon* is distinct from this case in very meaningful ways.

First, in *Gordon*, the insured and the insurance carrier *stipulated* that the plaintiff incurred no expense for his medical care. *Gordon*, at 446, 120 S.E.2d at 513 (“Since the parties to this action *stipulated that the respondent incurred no expense* and made no cash outlay for the treatment he received at the Fort Jackson hospital, the appellant was not liable to the respondent for the reasonable cost of his hospitalization, because the appellant had limited its liability to pay only ‘all reasonable expenses incurred’ by the respondent.”) (emphasis added). That is, they stipulated that there was no bill for a collateral source to satisfy and that the soldier “incurred no expense.” The definition of the phrase “expenses incurred” was not at issue.

Second, the Court in *Gordon* relied upon *United States v. St. Paul Mercury Indemn. Co.*, 238 F.2d 594 (8th Cir. 1956) as persuasive authority. In *St. Paul*, a Federal Appeals Court held that when a servicemember or veteran is provided medical care through the Veterans’ Administration, the veteran incurs no medical expenses. The *St. Paul* Court therefore ruled the government “could not recover from [the] insurer, since, under statute, [the] veteran had incurred no liability” arising from the treatment. *United States v. St. Paul Mercury Indemnity Co.*, at 595. This is a very narrow holding aimed at a discrete segment of the population: Those individuals who are eligible for medical care² provided through the Veteran’s Administration. That is, there

² Progressive asserts the veteran in *Gordon* “did not receive free medical care at a military hospital. His medical care was paid for by the taxpayers. He just received free-to-him medical care.” (Brief of Petitioner, p. 11). That may be, but the source of those payments is still collateral to Progressive’s obligation to pay under the Medpay policy. The major difference was the *Gordon* parties’ stipulation that Mr. Gordon, an active-duty soldier stationed at Ft. Jackson,

never will be a bill for the services for which a collateral source (including Medicaid) will have exposure.

Unlike *Gordon*, there is no statute that renders the medical treatment uncharged to Ms. Jones from the start. (Appx. p. 12). As the trial court explained “[Ms. Jones] incurred the full cost of her medical treatment at the time services [were] rendered as she became obligated for that amount irrespective of Medicaid.” (Appx. p. 12). The trial court added, “Unlike *Gordon*, [Ms. Jones] in this case was in fact charged for the services rendered at the time they were rendered thereby incurring those expenses notwithstanding Medicaid.” (Appx. p. 12).

Third, *Gordon* predates South Carolina’s adoption of the Automobile Reparation Reform Act in 1974 (recodified in 1977). *See Shores v. Weaver*, 315 S.C. 347, 433 S.E.2d 913 (1993), *cert. denied* March 18, 1994 (describing the adoption of current automobile insurance laws in South Carolina).³ At the time of *Gordon*, there was *no* provision in the South Carolina Code that prohibited any setoff from PIP or MedPay benefits as there is now. *See* S.C. Code Ann. § 38-77-144 (2015) (“If an insurer sells no-fault insurance coverage which provides personal injury protection, medical payment coverage, or economic loss coverage, *the coverage* shall not be assigned or subrogated and *is not subject to a setoff.*”) (emphasis added).

“incurred no expense for his medical care.”

³ Westlaw red flags *Shores* as “superseded by statute,” pointing to *McGee v. SC Dept. of Motor Vehicles*, 389 S.C. 540, 698 S.E.2d 841 (Ct. App. 2010). This is incorrect. *McGee* relied upon the Court of Appeals’ opinion in *Cowan v. Allstate Ins. Co.*, 351 S.C. 626, 571 S.E.2d 715 (Ct. App. 2002) (*Cowan I*) (holding *Shores* was superseded by the adoption of S.C. Code Ann. § 38-77-142(B) (eff. 3/1/1999)). This Court, however, reversed *Cowan*, and held *Shores* is still good law. *Cowan v. Allstate Ins. Co.*, 357 S.C. 625, 594 S.E.2d 275 (2004) (*Cowan II*) (holding the adoption of S.C. Code Ann. § 38-77-142(B) did not impact the holding in *Shores*). Therefore, while *McGee* correctly described the effect of *Cowan I*, the *McGee* opinion lost any efficacy because *Cowan I* is no longer good law. Hence, Westlaw’s red flag is in error.

Fourth, *Gordon* predates more recent precedent from this Court in *Haselden* and *Covington*. Both of those cases hold that the appropriate measure of the cost of medical care is the amount a provider would have billed absent a *collateral source*, such as Medicaid. *Cf. Gipson v. Coffee & McKenzie, P.A.* (pointing to *Haselden* as describing Medicaid as a collateral source). Thus, the amount the provider would have billed was the cost Ms. Jones incurred. The fact that the providers accepted Medicaid affects only the ultimate payment on her behalf, not the initial expense she *incurred* for treatment.

This Court should not be persuaded by Progressive's argument that *Gordon* controls the outcome in this case.

B. *Barker v. Washington Nat. Ins. Co.*

Progressive asserts the United States District Court "properly applied the *Gordon* decision to similar facts" in *Barker v. Washington Nat. Ins. Co.*, 2013 WL 1767620 (D.S.C. Apr. 24, 2013). (Brief of Petitioner, pp. 13-14). Since *Barker* relied upon the same reading of *Gordon* that Progressive promotes, *Barker* is wrongly decided. Even so, *Barker* is distinct from this case in very meaningful ways. This Court should not be persuaded by Progressive's argument.

First, the federal district court in *Barker* attempted to predict South Carolina law. Citing to *Gordon*, the district court concluded "as a Medicare recipient, Barker at no time was obligated to pay the total charges listed on the hospital's bill...." The district court did not analyze the case under the collateral source rule as described in *Covington* or *Haselden* (and reaffirmed in *Gipson*). The district court also conflated the concepts of "incurred" versus "paid." Respectfully, Judge Duffy's unpublished order is wrong, and this Court should reject *Barker*'s analysis.

Second, *Barker* involved a *health insurance policy* that contained a "Medicare

Provision,” not an automobile policy. This is a meaningful distinction. Insurers have more flexibility when including terms like the “Medicare Provision” found in the *Barker* policy as opposed to the terms an insurer may include in automobile insurance coverage. In an automobile policy, a term must comply with the governing statutory provisions or the term is void. *See, e.g., Cothran v. State Farm. Mut. Auto. Ins. Co.*, 427 S.C. 545, 831 S.E.2d 919 (2019) (holding invalid a “coordination clause” which permitted insurer to reduce PIP payments for workers’ compensation recovery). The “Medicare Provision” in *Barker* would be unenforceable if included in an automobile PIP/Medpay policy given the PIP/Medpay statute’s provision that “the coverage shall not be assigned or subrogated and is not subject to a setoff.” S.C. Code Ann. § 38-77-144.

Finally, the district court’s unpublished order is not binding on this Court. *See, e.g., Laffite v. Bridgestone Corp.*, 381 S.C. 460, 473 n. 9, 674 S.E.2d 154, 161 n. 9 (2009) (“a federal court decision interpreting state law is not binding on this Court.”), citing *Blyth v. Marcus*, 335 S.C. 363, 368 n. 3, 517 S.E.2d 433, 435 n. 3 (1999) (noting a federal district court decision was not binding on this Court). And because of the significant distinctions between this case and *Barker* set forth above (health insurance versus automobile insurance, no collateral source analysis), the district court’s unpublished decision is not even valid persuasive authority favoring Progressive’s position.

Progressive asks the Court to focus on the amount ultimately *paid* to the medical providers, not the amount *incurred* at the time the patient received the medical services. Ms. Jones *incurred* the full amount the medical providers ordinarily charged; what was *paid* was the reduced amount the providers agreed to accept under the collateral source, Medicaid.

Progressive's argument, taken to its extreme, would be that it should receive credit for *any* payment by *any* health insurer who negotiates a reduction with the provider, and is only liable for that amount plus any co-pay an insured must pay. That is not the law, nor is it the language of Progressive's insurance agreement.⁴

The Court of Appeals' decision affirming the circuit court's order finding Progressive owed Ms. Jones the balance due under the applicable MedPay policy is entirely consistent with controlling authority from this Court. It is also consistent with the cases upon which Progressive relies because those cases are meaningfully distinct, they are not consistent with more recent case law, or they are not binding upon this Court. Accordingly, the Court should reject Progressive's arguments, affirm the lower courts, or dismiss this writ.

III. THIS CASE DOES NOT PRESENT A NOVEL ISSUE ON THE AMOUNT DUE TO MS. JONES UNDER THE MEDPAY POLICY

The issue Progressive pursues before this Court is not novel. The Court in *Haselden* and *Covington* described the amount the medical provider normally charged as the amount an injured party "incurred," and not the net amount a provider accepted from a collateral source such as Medicaid. The law is settled on this point under very recent cases from this Court (*Gipson* is a 2025 opinion). And Section 38-77-144 plainly states benefits payable under a MedPay policy are

⁴ Taken to its logical conclusion, the argument Progressive makes in this case (that "expenses incurred" equals "expenses the injured party had to pay out of pocket") would relieve an automobile insurer from making any PIP or Medpay payments where a party's medical bills were covered by workers' compensation, contrary to the holding in *Cothran*. See 427 S.C. at 546, 831 S.E.2d at 920 (this Court observed that Ms. Cothran's "workers' compensation carrier paid all of her medical expenses"). Such a result would also directly conflict with the anti-assignment, anti-subrogation, or anti-setoff provisions in Section 38-77-144.

not subject to setoff, including from a collateral source like Medicaid. The issue *seems* novel because Progressive continues to advocate for a “misapplication” and “misinterpretation” of the holdings of *Gordon* and *Barker*.⁵

Again, the law on this point is settled; the issue is not novel. Section 38-77-144 mandates that Progressive pay what it agreed to pay under its policy without setoff for payments attributed to a collateral source such as Medicaid. *Haselden* and *Covington* set forth the rules governing which figures to use, that is, the normal charges and not the reduced charges under a provider’s agreement to accept Medicaid.

Respectfully, although this Court granted Progressive’s petition to review the unpublished Court of Appeals’ decision which affirmed the circuit court’s order, the Court should reconsider that grant and dismiss the writ as improvidently granted.

⁵ This is how the Court of Appeals described Progressive’s arguments. *Jones*, slip at *4.

CONCLUSION

For the reasons stated the Court should affirm the Court of Appeals' opinion upholding the trial court's order finding that Progressive owed Ms. Jones the entire amount due under the MedPay policy. Alternatively, the Court should dismiss the writ in this case.